1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 3 TROY MULLNER S.Ct. No. 71030 **Electronically Filed** 4 Feb 27 2017 03:24 p.m. Appellant, D.C. No. C283463 Elizabeth A. Brown 5 Clerk of Supreme Court VS. 6 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 7 Respondent. 8 9 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 10 11 STEVEN S. OWENS, ESQ. JEAN J. SCHWARTZER. ESQ 12 Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar No. 11223 13 Nevada Bar No. 4352 Law Office of Jean J. Schwartzer Clark County District Attorney's Office 10620 Southern Highlands Pkwy 14 200 Lewis Avenue Suite 110-473 15 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 Las Vegas, Nevada 89141 (702) 979-9941 (702) 671-2500 16 Attorney for Respondent jean.schwartzer@gmail.com 17 State of Nevada Attorney

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has appellate jurisdiction over the instant matter pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 177.015(3). The Appellant appeals from his Amended Judgment of Conviction, which was entered on January 28, 2014. Appellate counsel filed an untimely Notice of Appeal on April 15, 2014. However, the District Court granted Appellant an appeal pursuant to <u>Lozada v. State</u> ¹ after post-conviction habeas proceedings, and filed a timely Notice of Appeal on August 11, 2016.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Appellant was convicted of a category A felony. Therefore, pursuant to N.R.A.P. 17(b)(1), this appeal presumptively is routed to the Supreme Court of Nevada.

110 Nev. 349, 8/1 P.20 944 (1994)

Page 1

¹ 110 Nev. 349, 871 P.2d 944 (1994).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN SENTENCING MULLNER AS A SMALL HABITUAL CRIMINAL
- II. MULLNER'S SENTENCE AMOUNTS TO CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT
- III. CUMULATIVE ERROR

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 15, 2012, the State charged TROY LEE MULLNER ("Mullner") by way of Indictment with the following: Eleven (11) counts of BURGLARY (Category B Felony – NRS 205.060); Sixteen (16) counts of ROBBERY (Category B Felony – NRS 200.380); Two (2) counts of FIRST DEGREE KIDNAPPING (Category A Felony – NRS 200.310, 200.320); Four (4) counts of COERCION (Category B Felony – NRS 207.190); Four (4) counts of BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony – NRS 200.060, NRS 193.165); Two (2) Counts of ATTEMPT ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony – NRS 200.380, 193.330, 193.165); Three (3) counts of ATTEMPT ROBBERY (Category B Felony – NRS 200.380,

Page 2

193.330) and One (1) count of POSSESSION OF FIREARM BY EX-FELON (Category B Felony – NRS 202.360). 1 AA 12-27.

The State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual Criminal. 1 AA 28-30.

Pursuant to negotiations, on October 21, 2013, the State charged Mullner by way of Amended Indictment with the following: One(1) count of BURGLARY (Category B Felony – NRS 205.060); Two (2) counts of ROBBERY (Category B Felony – NRS 200.380); One (1) count of COERCION (Category B Felony – NRS 207.190); Two (2) counts of BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony – NRS 200.380, NRS 193.165); Two (2) Counts of ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony – NRS 200.380, 193.165); One (1) count of ATTEMPT ROBBERY (Category B Felony – NRS 200.380, 193.330) and One (1) count of POSSESSION OF FIREARM BY EX-FELON (Category B Felony – NRS 202.360). 1 AA 31-34.

On October 21, 2013, Mullner was arraigned on the Amended Indictment, and a Guilty Plea Agreement ("GPA") was filed. 1 AA 35-38. The State reserved the full right to argue, including for habitual criminal treatment. <u>Id</u>. Mullner

28

1

pleaded guilty to the charges alleged in the Amended Indictment. Id. On January 23, 2014, Mullner was adjudged a habitual criminal and sentenced to TEN (10) YEARS to LIFE on Count 1; TEN (10) YEARS to LIFE on COUNT 2 to run consecutive to Count 1; TWO (2) to SIX (6) YEARS on COUNT 3 to run consecutive to COUNT 2; TEN (10) YEARS to LIFE on COUNT 4 to run concurrent to Count 3; TEN (10) YEARS to LIFE on COUNT 5 to run concurrent to Count 4; TEN (10) YEARS to LIFE on COUNT 6 to run concurrent to COUNT 5; TEN (10) YEARS to LIFE on COUNT 7 to run concurrent to COUNT 6; TEN (10) YEARS to LIFE on COUNT 8 to run concurrent to COUNT 7; TEN (10) YEARS to LIFE on COUNT 9 to run concurrent to COUNT 8; and ONE (1) to FOUR (4) YEARS on COUNT 10 to run consecutive to COUNT 9. 1 AA 49-51. Mullner received FIVE HUNDRED SEVENTY-TWO (572) DAYS credit for time served. Id. On January 28, 2014, the Judgment of Conviction was filed. Id. On February 5, 2014, an Amended Judgment of Conviction was filed because of a clerical error which was corrected to read as follows; COUNT 7 – ATTEMPT ROBBERY. 1 AA 52-54.

On April 15, 2014, Mullner filed an untimely Notice of Appeal after repeatedly requested that his attorney do so with no success. 1 AA 55-58. On May

13, 2014, the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Order of Dismissal because Mullner's untimely filed his Notice of Appeal. 1 AA 59-60. Remittur issued on June 12, 2014. 1 AA 74-75. On June 13, 2014, Mullner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. 1 AA 61-73. On May 22, 2014, the Court appointed Jean Schwartzer as counsel for Mullner.

On December 3, 2015, Mullner filed a Supplemental Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). 1 AA 81-100; 2 AA 101-155. On January 27, 2016, the State filed a Response to Mullner's Supplemental Memorandum. 2 AA 156-169. On May 2, 2016, a hearing was held wherein the District Court granted an evidentiary hearing on the issues raised in Muller's Petition. 2 AA 170.

On May 2, 2016, an evidentiary hearing was held where both Mullner and his previous attorney, Frank Kocka, Esq., testified. 2 AA 171. Prior to testimony being given, Mullner withdrew his request to withdraw his guilty plea. <u>Id</u>. The Court heard testimony was given regarding only Mullner's deprivation of appeal claim. <u>Id</u>. The District Court took the matter under advisement. <u>Id</u>.

On May 9, 2016, the District Court issued a Minute Order granting Mullner's Petition. 2 AA 172. On August 10, 2016, the Court filed its Findings of

Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order. 2 AA 173-178. On August 11, 2016, the Court filed Notice of Entry of Decision and Order. 2 AA 179-185. On August 11, 2016 the District Court also filed Mullner's Notice of Appeal. 2 AA 186-187. This Opening Brief follows:

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Between the dates of April 11, 2012 and June 30, 2012, a series of 14 robberies were committed in Las Vegas, Nevada and Henderson, Nevada. 1 AA 5-10. A man entered these stores and demanded that the cash registers be emptied. Id. He accomplished this by simulating the act of holding a weapon under his shirt, showing the handle of knife tucked into his pants or wielding a fake handgun. Id. After the last robbery of a Subway sandwich shop on June 30th, one of the victims followed the fleeing perpetrator; he watched the man get into an older model minivan and collected a partial plate number for police officers. 1 AA 11.

After the June 30, 2012 robbery of a Subway, Las Vegas Metro Police Department ("Metro") Officers reviewed surveillance video and determined that the suspect matched the description of a serial robbery suspect identified as Mullner. 1 AA 7. Metro officers constructed two photo line-ups using recent

photographs of Mullner and presented them to the two victims/eyewitnesses of the June 30th robbery. 1 AA 11. Both witnesses identified Mullner as the suspect. Id.

Metro officers located Mullner's mini-van parked in front of a house and began surveillance of the vehicle. 1 AA 2. After witnessing Mullner's presence at the home, Metro officers obtained and executed a search warrant for the house and mini-van. <u>Id</u>. Mullner, along with other individuals in the house, exited the house as directed and without any use of force and without incident. <u>Id</u>. During a search of the property Metro Officers found two cell phones, multiple articles of clothing supposedly worn during the robberies, and a fake gun; all such items belonged to Mullner. 1 AA 2-3.

Dayna Curliss, Mullner's girlfriend, stated during an interview that she was unaware of Mullner committing any robberies, but that Mullner had told her previously that he owns a gun. 1 AA 4. Curliss had never actually seen the gun. <u>Id</u>. Curliss also stated that Defendant is an alcoholic and suspected Mullner of smoking meth due to his recent weight loss. <u>Id</u>.

After the execution of the warrant, Mullner was read his Miranda rights, which he later waived. 1 AA 11. Mullner admitted to committing the June 30th Subway robbery along with thirteen other robberies. <u>Id</u>. He further stated that he

Page 7

had used a fake handgun on one of the robberies. <u>Id</u>. He voluntarily identified himself in the surveillance photographs. <u>Id</u>. During his interview, Mullner also admitted to having a methamphetamine addiction and stated that he committed the robberies to pay his bills as well as to support his drug habit. Id.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mullner was sentenced as a Large Habitual Criminal using three prior felonies—2 of them were stale and one of those convictions was the result of a crime committed as a juvenile. This was done in error.

Mullner was sentenced to thirty-one (31) to life for a series of crimes where no one was physically harmed and a total of \$3089.40 was stolen. This sentence amounts to cruel and unusual punishment.

These errors combined amount to cumulative error.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN SENTENCING MULLNER AS A SMALL HABITUAL CRIMINAL

a. Standard of Review

Pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 207.010, "It is within the discretion of the prosecuting attorney whether to include a count under this section in any information or file a notice of habitual criminality if an indictment is found. The

trial judge may, at his or her discretion, dismiss a count under this section which is included in any indictment or information." The purpose of this section is to permit dismissal "when the prior offenses are stale or trivial, or in other circumstances where an adjudication of habitual criminality would not serve the purposes of the statute or the interests of justice." Sessions v. State, 106 Nev. 186, 190, 789 P.2d 1242, 1244 (1990) quoting French v. State, 98 Nev. 235, 237, 645 P.2d 440, 441 (1982). A trial court's adjudication of a defendant as a habitual criminal is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Sessions, 106 Nev. at 190, 789 P.2d at 1244. Under the habitual offender statute, considerations of the nonviolent nature of charged crimes or remoteness of prior convictions are within the discretion of district court. N.R.S. 207.010. Tillema v. State, 112 Nev. 266, 914 P.2d 605 (1996); Arajakis v. State, 108 Nev. 976, 843 P.2d 800 (1992).

b. The Court Erred in Adjudicating Mullner as a Small Habitual Criminal by Basing its Decision on Stale Prior Convictions

On March 13, 2013, the State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual Criminal pursuant to NRS 207.012 and NRS 207.101. 1 AA 28-30. In this Notice the State listed following three prior convictions: 2006 Robbery in Case No. C226003 (Clark County, Nevada); 1997 Second Degree Kidnapping in Case

No C134348 (Clark County, Nevada); and 1984 First Degree Robbery in Case No. CR84-147 (South Dakota). <u>Id</u>. Although the state sought habitual criminal treatment under either NRS 207.012 or NRS 207.010, it appears from the Judgment of Conviction and the sentencing transcript that Mullner was adjudicated a Large Habitual Criminal under NRS 207.010. 1 AA 49-51; 1 AA 76-80.

NRS 207.010 provides in relevant part:

- 1. Unless the person is prosecuted pursuant to NRS 207.012 or 207.014, a person convicted in this State of:
- (a) Any felony, who has previously been two times convicted, whether in this State or elsewhere, of any crime which under the laws of the situs of the crime or of this State would amount to a felony is a habitual criminal and shall be punished for a category B felony by imprisonment in the state prison for a minimum term of not less than 5 years and a maximum term of not more than 20 years.
- (b) Any felony, who has previously been three times convicted, whether in this State or elsewhere, of any crime which under the laws of the situs of the crime or of this State would amount to a felony is a habitual criminal and shall be punished for a category A felony by imprisonment in the state prison:
- (1) For life without the possibility of parole;
- (2) For life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 10 years has been served; or
- (3) For a definite term of 25 years, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 10 years has been served.

Pursuant to NRS 207.010(2), "It is within the discretion of the prosecuting attorney whether to include a count under this section in any information or file a notice of habitual criminality if an indictment is found. The trial judge may, at his or her discretion, dismiss a count under this section which is included in any indictment or information." The purpose of this section is to permit dismissal "when the prior offenses are stale or trivial, or in other circumstances where an adjudication of habitual criminality would not serve the purposes of the statute or the interests of justice." Sessions v. State, 106 Nev. 186, 190, 789 P.2d 1242, 1244 (1990) quoting French v. State, 98 Nev. 235, 237, 645 P.2d 440, 441 (1982).

In <u>Sessions</u>, Sessions was convicted of drug trafficking and drug possession adjudicated a Habitual Criminal under NRS 207.010. 106 Nev. at 187, 789 P.2d at 1242-43. Sessions was sentenced to, *inter alia*, life without the possibility of parole. <u>Id</u>. at 187-88, 789 P.2d at 1243. The prior convictions used to obtain habitual criminal status were for theft, grand theft and escape, which ranged from twenty-three (23) to thirty (30) years old. <u>Id</u>. This Court held that it was an abuse of discretion for the district court to sentence Sessions as a Habitual Criminal and impose the maximum sentence because "surely a case involving crimes less violent and more stale than presented here would be hard to find; hence, the adjudication

 of habitual criminality in this case serves neither the purpose of the statute nor the interests of justice." <u>Id</u>. at 191, 789 P.2d at 1245.

Here, the District Court used three prior felony convictions to adjudicate Mullner a Large Habitual Criminal. 1 AA 28-30. At the time of the commission of these crimes, these convictions were six (6), fifteen (15) and twenty-eight (28) years old. (See Presentence Investigation Report at 5). The fifteen (15) year old conviction for Second Degree Kidnapping is arguably stale and the twenty-eight (28) year old conviction for Robbery is most certainly stale. More important is the fact that Mullner was a juvenile at the time he committed the twenty-eight (28) year old crime. Id.

Juvenile convictions are civil in nature pursuant to Chapter 62 of the Nevada Revised Statutes and that because of this, the activity is not "felonious." In <u>State v. Javier</u>, this Court recently addressed the civil nature of juvenile adjudications. 289 P.3d 1194, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 50 (Oct. 4, 2012). In <u>Javier</u>, Javier C. was adjudicated delinquent and committed to the Nevada Youth Training Center (NYTC), "a state facility for the detention or commitment of [delinquent] children." NRS 62A.330. While there, he allegedly battered a group supervisor.

² This document is not contained in the Appellant's Appendix. Mullner will file a Motion for Order Directing District Court to Transmit Appellant's PSI.

The State charged him as an adult with battery by a prisoner under NRS 200.481(2)(f), a category B felony. Id. This Court dismissed and held that, because Javier C.'s detention at NYTC was civil, not criminal, he was not a "prisoner" to whom NRS 200.481(2)(f) could apply. Id. The State appealed. Id. This Court held that Javier's confinement was civil in nature, not criminal, and that he was not a prisoner for purposes of the charge of battery by a prisoner, despite the fact that had he committed these crimes as an adult, he would have been in prison being punished for a felony. Id., at 1196-97.

While Mullner recognizes that Chapter 62 of the Nevada Revised Statutes and this Court's holding in Javier are not directly applicable to the instant case due to the fact that, according to his PSI, Mullner was certified up as an adult, Muller would ask on appeal that the Supreme Court extend its holding in Javier to instances where a juvenile is certified up to District Court and then convicted of a felony. This felony conviction, although not a juvenile adjudication, is the result of the actions of a juvenile and therefore it should not be used to enhance the sentence of the adult defendant twenty-eight (28) years later. Therefore, it was an abuse of discretion for the District Court to adjudicate Mullner a Large Habitual Criminal based upon three felonies, 2 of which were stale and one of which was a juvenile

offense. Mullner was prejudiced by this error given the fact that being adjudicated a Large Habitual Criminal exposed him to and resulted in a sentence of thirty-one (31) to Life, effectively putting him in prison for a majority of the rest of his life for stealing \$3089.40 without physically injuring anyone.

II. MULLNER'S SENTENCE AMOUNTS TO CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT

a. Standard of Review

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution as well as Article 1, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution prohibits the imposition of cruel and unusual punishment. The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that "[a] sentence within the statutory limits is not 'cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience." Allred v. State, 120 Nev. 410, 92 P.2d 1246, 1253 (2004) quoting Blume v. State, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d 282, 284 (1996) quoting Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221-22 (1979)(emphasis added); see also Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1001, 111 S.Ct. 2680, 115 L.Ed.2d 836 (1991) (plurality opinion) quoting Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 288, 103 S.Ct. 3001, 77 L.Ed.2d 637 (1983).

b. A Sentence of Thirty-One Years to Life in Prison is Disproportionate to the Crimes Mullner Committed

Mullner pleaded guilty to committing numerous robberies and burglaries. That being said, this was done over the course of only three months, and appears to have been drug fueled. He admitted to stealing a total of \$3,089.40 combined from fourteen difference victims. Although someone could have been harmed physically and no doubt there was a certain amount of emotional and mental harm, no one was physically harmed and the monetary impact on each individual victim was not incredibly large and *totaled* across all victims \$3089.40. Therefore, his sentence of thirty-one (31) years to life is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience and amounts to cruel and unusual punishment in violation of The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution as well as Article 1, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution. Allred v. State, 120 Nev. 410, 92 P.2d at 1253.

Although Mullner is not arguing that his sentence is an *illegal* sentence under Nevada law, it is certainly disproportionate to the crimes he was convicted of given the affect this has had on the victims and the amount of damage done to society. Therefore, Mullner's sentence of thirty-one (31) years to life amounts to cruel and unusual punishment. Allred, 120 Nev. 410.

III. CUMULATIVE ERROR

When evaluating a claim of cumulative error, this Court considers the following factors: (1) whether the issue of guilt is close, (2) the quantity and character of the error, and (3) the gravity of the crime charged. Mulder v. State, 116 Nev. 1, 17, 992 P.2d 845, 854-55 (2000).

Here, even if the aforementioned instances of misconduct are viewed by this Court as harmless individually, the cumulative effect of the District Court's errors are harmful and have prejudiced Mullner.

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