### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TROY MULLNER,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed May 15 2017 09:00 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 71030

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. Law Office of Jean J. Schwartzer Nevada Bar #011223 10620 Southern Highlands Pkwy. Suite 110-473 Las Vegas, Nevada 89141 (702) 979-9941

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

## B. Mullner Was Properly Adjudicated a Habitual Criminal

Mullner was sentenced under the large habitual criminal statue as to Counts 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 to Count 1: 10 to Life, Count 2: 10 to Life consecutive to Count 1, Count 3: 2 to 6 years consecutive to Count 2, Count 4: 10 to Life concurrent to Count 3, Count 5: 10 to Life concurrent to Count 4, Count 6: 10 to Life concurrent to Count 5, Count 7: 10 to Life concurrent to Count 6, Count 8: 10 to Life, concurrent to Count 7, Count 9, 10 to Life, concurrent to Count 8, Count 10: 1 to 4 consecutive to Count 9. 1 AA 49-51. Mullner does not argue that his sentence under the large

habitual statute was not within the statutory range prescribed by the Legislature. Rather, Mullner contends he was impermissibly sentenced as a habitual criminal. AOB 9.

### Pursuant to NRS 207.010:

- [A] person convicted in this state of:
- (b) Any felony, who has previously been three times convicted, whether in this state or elsewhere, of any crime which under the laws of the situs of the crime or of this state would amount to a felony, or who has previously been five times convicted, whether in this state or elsewhere, of petit larceny, or of any misdemeanor or gross misdemeanor of which fraud or the intent to defraud is an element, is a habitual criminal and shall be punished for a category A felony by imprisonment in the state prison:
- (1) For life without the possibility of parole;
- (2) For life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 10 years has been served; or
- (3) For a definite term of 25 years, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 10 years has been served.

Adjudication of a defendant as a habitual criminal is "subject *to the broadest kind of judicial discretion*." LaChance v. State, 130 Nev. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_, 321 P.3d 919, 929 (2014) (quoting Tanksley v. State, 113 Nev. 997, 1004, 946 P.2d 148, 152 (1997)). NRS 207.010 makes no special allowance for non-violent crimes or for the remoteness of convictions; instead, these are considerations within the discretion of the district court. Arajakis v. State, 108 Nev. 976, 983, 843 P.2d 800, 805, (1992); French v. State, 98 Nev. 235, 645 P.2d 440 (1982). Further, the district court has the

discretion to adjudge a defendant as a habitual criminal when the defendant has been convicted of a felony and has at least three prior felonies. NRS 207.010(1)(a).

For purposes of NRS 207.010 the State need only provide proof of three prior felony convictions. The felony convictions utilized to adjudicate a defendant as a habitual criminal need not follow any particular sequence. Carr v. State, 96 Nev. 936, 939, 620 P.2d 869, 871 (1980). They must merely precede the date of the underlying offense. Brown v. State, 97 Nev. 101, 102, 624 P.2d 1005, 1006 (1981). "Exemplified copies of the prior felony convictions and certified fingerprint cards from the penal institutions where the defendant had been incarcerated both have been approved in habitual criminal proceedings." Curry v. Slansky, 637 F. Supp. 947, 952 (D. Nev. 1986) (citing Plunkett v. State, 84 Nev. 145, 437 P.2d 92, 94 (1968)); Atteberry v. State, 84 Nev. 213, 438 P.2d 789, 791 (1968). "If a defendant charged pursuant to NRS 207.010, NRS 207.012 or NRS 207.014 pleads guilty to or is found guilty of the primary offense but denies any previous conviction charged, the court shall determine the issue of the previous conviction after hearing all relevant evidence presented on the issue by the prosecution and the defendant." NRS 207.016.

Here, the district court did not abuse its discretion when adjudicating Mullner a habitual criminal. Not only did Mullner plead guilty to TEN Category B felonies in the instant case, but it was determined at sentencing that he had four prior felony

convictions. 1 AA 35, 2 AA 152. Thus, Mullner was clearly eligible to be adjudged as a habitual criminal.

Moreover, one of the purposes of this statute is to prevent recidivism. Rezin v. State, 95 Nev. 461, 463, 596 P.2d 226, 227 (1979). Based on Mullner' prior convictions he clearly poses a risk of recidivism, and thus sentencing him under this statute was appropriate. As such, the district court sentencing Mullner under the large habitual criminal statute to life without the possibility of parole was not an abuse of discretion.

### C. Mullner's Convictions Should Not Be Dismissed as Stale

Mullner argues that two of his prior convictions were stale. AOB 9-10. Although the district court has the discretion to look at the staleness and seriousness of the prior felonies, it is not required to make special allowances for these types of crimes. Arajakis 108 Nev. at 983, 843 P.2d at 805. Here, the district court considered Mullner's argument and examined the totality of his record prior to adjudging him as a habitual criminal. 2 AA 152-53.

Mullner's reliance on <u>Sessions v. State</u>, 106 Nev. 186, 789 P.2d 1242 (1990), is misplaced. In <u>Sessions</u>, the defendant was convicted of trafficking in marijuana in 1989. At sentencing, he was adjudicated a habitual criminal because of three felony convictions: a 1959 Texas conviction for theft of property valued at over fifty dollars, a 1963 California conviction for grand theft, and a 1965 California

conviction for escape without the use of force. There was no indication that Sessions had been involved in any criminal activity between 1965 and 1989. The Nevada Supreme Court held that it was an abuse of discretion for the district court to adjudicate <u>Sessions</u> as a habitual criminal using ONLY convictions that were over twenty years old.

Mullner is not is the same position as Sessions. As the State outlined in its habitual notice, Mullner has a continuous criminal history spanning more than thirty years:

- 1. Having in 2006, been convicted of Robbery, in Case Number C226003, in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, a felony under the laws of the State of Nevada.
- 2. Having in 1997, been convicted of Second Degree Kidnapping, in Case Number C134348, in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, a felony under the laws of the State of Nevada.
- 3. Having in 1984, been convicted of First Degree Robbery, in Case Number CR84-147, a felony in the State of South Dakota.
- 4. Having in 1984, been convicted of Third Degree Burglary, in Case Number CR84-142, a felony in the state of South Dakota.

It is also important to note that Mullner committed other felony, misdemeanor and gross misdemeanor offenses throughout the course of those thirty years, which resulted in either misdemeanor or gross misdemeanor convictions or were dismissed pursuant to global negotiations, or otherwise dispelled. See PSI, p. 5-7. Although Mullner claims that the sentence imposed was not proper, it is clear that the sentencing judge weighed his high risk to reoffend with the severity of the crime. As

Mullner was sentenced within the statutory guidelines, the district court did not abuse its discretion in sentencing Mullner.

# D. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Considering Mullner's 1984 Conviction

Mullner also argues that this Court should apply the ruling in <u>State v. Javier</u>, 128 Nev. \_\_\_, 289 P.3d 1194 (2012), to the instant case. However, <u>Javier</u> is vastly distinguished. Javier was adjudicated delinquent and committed to the Nevada Youth Training Center. While there, Javier battered a group supervisor. For this action, Javier was charged as an adult with battery by a prisoner under NRS 200.481(2)(f). However, this Court determined that because Javier was at the NYTC as a juvenile delinquent, he was not a prisoner due to the civil nature of juvenile convictions. Therefore, he could not be a "prisoner" and NRS 200.481(2)(f) did not apply.

The instant case is distinguished from <u>Javier</u> in that the Juvenile Court certified Mullner and he was prosecuted as an adult on the charged used to habitualize him. When Mullner was certified the juvenile court waived jurisdiction over him. Thus, the conviction is no different than any other conviction. Once a juvenile is certified to the adult system, the adult system has original jurisdiction over the juvenile. NRS 62B.390(5)(a); <u>Anthony Lee R.</u>, 113 Nev. 1406, 1409, 952 P.2d 1, 3 (1997); <u>Castillo v. State</u>, 106 Nev. 349, 351, 792 P.2d 1133, 1134 (1990). Javier could not be charged under NRS 200.481(2)(f) for battery by a prisoner

because for all intents and purposes, he was not actually a prisoner. Here, Mullner's age at the time did not because he was prosecuted and convicted as an adult. Once he was certified, the District Court was well within its jurisdiction to find Mullner guilty of the crimes he had committed.

Based on the foregoing, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Mullner was previously convicted of three felonies, and adjudicating him guilty under the Habitual Criminal Statute NRS 207.010. As such, this Court should AFFIRRM the Judgment of Conviction.

# II. MULLNER'S SENTENCE DID NOT AMOUNT TO CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution prohibit the imposition of cruel and unusual punishment. The Eighth Amendment and Nevada Constitution do not require the sentence to be strictly proportionate to the crime; they only forbid a sentence that is grossly disproportionate to the crime. Chavez v. State, 125 Nev. 328, 347-348, 213 P.3d 476, 489 (2009) (citing Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1001, 111 S. Ct. 2680, 2705 (1991) (plurality opinion)). A sentence will not be deemed cruel and unusual if it is within the statutory range unless the statute fixing the punishment is unconstitutional, or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience. Chavez v. State, 125 Nev. 328, 348, 213 P.3d 476, 489 (2009); Allred v. State, 120 Nev. 410, 420, 92 P.2d 1246, 1253 (2004). A

punishment is considered "excessive" and unconstitutional if it: "(1) makes no measurable contribution to acceptable goals of punishment and hence is nothing more than the purposeless and needless imposition of pain and suffering; or (2) is grossly out of proportion to the severity of the crime." <u>Pickard v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 681, 684, 585 P.2d 1342, 1344 (1978) (quoting <u>Coker v. Georgia</u>, 433 U.S. 584, 592, 97 S.Ct. 2861, 2865 (1977)). Additionally, a sentencing judge is permitted broad discretion in imposing a sentence and, absent an abuse of discretion, the district court's determination will not be disturbed on appeal. <u>Randell v. State</u>, 109 Nev. 5, 8, 846 P.2d 278, 280 (1993) (<u>citing Deveroux v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 388, 390, 610 P.2d 722, 723-724 (1980)).

As Mullner' sentence is within the applicable statutory range, Mullner must show that either: 1) the statute is unconstitutional; or 2) that the "sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience." Blume v. State, 112 Nev. at 475, 915 P.2d at 284 (1996). Mullner has failed to demonstrate either. As discussed *supra*, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in sentencing Mullner under the habitual criminal statute. Pursuant to NRS 207.010, as a habitual criminal, Mullner could have been sentenced to:

- (1) For life without the possibility of parole;
- (2) For life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 10 years has been served; or

(3) For a definite term of 25 years, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 10 years has been served.

Although Mullner was sentenced to a Life tail under this statute on eight of the ten counts, his punishment was well within the statutory guidelines. Moreover, the sentence imposed is not so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience. Mullner was initially charged with a total of 46 counts including: 11 counts of Burglary, 16 counts of Robbery, 2 Counts of First Degree Kidnapping, 4 Counts of Coercion, 4 Counts of Burglary While in Possession of a Deadly Weapon, 5 Counts of Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon, 2 Counts of Attempt Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon, 3 Counts of Attempt Robbery and 1 Count of Possession of Firearm by Ex-Felon. 1 AA 12-27. The 2 Category A Felony charges, each carry a potential sentence of death, life without the possibility of parole or life with the possibility of parole. NRS 193.130. Each of the 44 category B Felonies carries a potential sentence of 1 to 20 years in the Nevada Department of Corrections. Id. It should be noted that pursuant to negotiations, Mullner pleaded guilty to only 10 counts and was adjudicated guilty and sentenced under only those ten counts. The remaining 36 counts were dismissed.

In determining the length of the additional penalty imposed, the court shall consider the facts and circumstances of the crime, the criminal history of the person, the impact of the crime on any victim, any mitigating factors presented by the person,

and any other relevant information. NRS 193.165. In this case, Mullner committed a total of 14 robberies. Mullner argues that because he only gained \$3,089.40 from the fourteen robberies the punishment he received was grossly disproportionate to the crime. AOB 15. However, Mullner's sentences are appropriate given the ongoing criminal behavior demonstrated by this series of robberies, the impact on the victims, the facts and circumstances of the crimes and the criminal history of the defendant. Regardless of the amount of money Mullner gained during each of the robberies, he entered fourteen different establishments and threatened fourteen different victims. PSI, 8-10.

Mullner has an extensive criminal history, which also warrants a harsh punishment from the court. Mullner's continued criminal activity spans more than thirty years, with several stays in prison, revocation of parole, and the instant series of robberies, which spans over several months. This is not a single incident of poor decision making, rather it is a pattern of behavior that endangers member after member after member of this community in order to fuel Mullner's drug habit.

Several of the Counts in this case were run consecutive to one another. 1 AA 49-51. Mullner argues that the aggregate sentence of 31 to Life amounts to cruel and unusual punishment. AOB 15. However, whether to give concurrent or consecutive sentences was soundly within the discretion of the lower court. See Randell v. State, 109 Nev. 5, 8, 846 P.2d 278, 280 (1993) ("A sentencing judge is

allowed wide discretion in imposing a sentence; absent an abuse of discretion, the district court's determination will not be disturbed on appeal."); accord <u>Brake v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 579, 584, 939 P.2d 1029, 1033 (1997). It was completely appropriate for the Court to impose consecutive sentences for the counts in this case as it is within the sound discretion of the Court to do so.

Mullner was not subject to cruel and unusual punishment because his sentence is justified by his continued disregard for the laws of the State of Nevada, the safety of members of the community, and their right not to be robbed by someone such as Mullner, and his criminal history. Plainly put, Mullner's sentence is absolutely appropriate given his crimes, and in no way shocks the conscience or amounts to cruel and unusual punishment.

### III. THE CUMULATIVE ERROR CLAIM LACKS MERIT

Under the doctrine of cumulative error, "although individual errors may be harmless, the cumulative effect of multiple errors may deprive a defendant of the constitutional right to a fair trial." Pertgen v. State, 110 Nev. 554, 566, 875 P.2d 361, 368 (1994) (citing Sipsas v. State, 102 Nev. 119, 716 P.2d 231 (1986)); see also Big Pond v. State, 101 Nev. 1, 3, 692 P.2d 1288, 1289 (1985). The doctrine of cumulative error "requires that numerous errors be committed, not merely alleged." People v. Rivers, 727 P.2d 394, 401 (Colo.App. 1986); see also People v. Jones, 665 P.2d 127, 131 (Colo.App. 1982). Here, Mullner failed to establish any error which

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